FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/8/2019 10:35 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97169-2

Court of Appeals No. 77310-1-I

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 2 OF PACIFIC COUNTY, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent,

V.

COMCAST OF WASHINGTON IV, INC., a Washington corporation; CENTURYTEL OF WASHINGTON, INC., a Washington corporation; and FALCON COMMUNITY VENTURES I, L.P., a California limited partnership d/b/a CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS,

Appellants.

#### CENTURYLINK'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND INTRODUCTION

CenturyLink of Washington, Inc., formerly known as CenturyTel of Washington, Inc. ("CenturyLink"), respectfully requests this Court to review, in part, the Court of Appeals' published opinion. This case arises out of the Public Utility District No. 2 of Pacific County's ("the District") calculation of the rates it charges competitor telecommunications providers, such as CenturyLink, to attach lines and similar telecommunications equipment to the District's utility poles.

The Court should review this case for two reasons. First, the Court of Appeals' decision as a practical matter eviscerates almost any meaningful review of the discretionary actions of municipal corporations such as the District, and by extension the actions of any administrative agency. While a municipal corporation has discretion to undertake any number of actions, its discretion is not limitless. When such an action is challenged, a court *must* review the conduct to determine if it was arbitrary or capricious, or unreasonable.

To the contrary, in the decision below the Court of Appeals gave entirely excessive deference to the District and somehow concluded that it was *not* arbitrary and capricious for the District:

- to make a decision contrary to undisputed facts; indeed,
   contrary to an unchallenged finding of fact by the superior
   court;
- to include in the rates costs that were admittedly entirely unrelated to pole attachments, even though the legislature expressly permitted only costs attributable to pole attachments;
   and
- to include in the rates a cost element the legislature expressly excluded.

This Court of Appeals' decision upends longstanding standards for the review for arbitrary and capricious conduct, and thus has an impact far beyond this single case. This Court should accept review, and confirm that courts may not rubber stamp challenged municipal actions, or the actions of other agencies subject to review for arbitrary and capricious actions; the court *must* perform a meaningful review of the challenged actions.

The Court should review this case for a second reason: this is the first case interpreting RCW 54.04.045, the statute by which the legislature attempted to regulate public utility districts' calculation of pole attachment

rates. As such, this case establishes precedent to be used by every public utility district in the state.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner CenturyLink seeks review in part of the published decision in *Public Utility District No. 2 of Pacific County v. Comcast of Washington IV, Inc.*, No. 77310-1-I, issued by the Court of Appeals, on April 8, 2019. App. 1–43. The opinion upheld the District's discretion in determining inputs utilized to calculate the maximum permissible utility pole attachment rate pursuant to RCW 54.04.045. App. 41.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err when it refused to review a municipal utility's exercise of discretion that was unreasoned and contrary to undisputed fact?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err when it gave deference to a municipal utility's exercise of discretion that allocated costs contrary to the express language of the authorizing statute?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err when it concluded, because of the errors in Issues 1 and 2, above, that the superior court's other error in construing RCW 54.04.045 was harmless, and therefore did not consider the issues that would arise if, as is correct, CenturyLink is

the prevailing party?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Utility Pole Attachment Rates

Under Washington law, pole attachment rates charged by public utility districts must be "just, reasonable, nondiscriminatory, and sufficient." RCW 54.04.045(2). The Washington Legislature has deemed that a "just and reasonable rate must be calculated" by averaging the rate components contained in RCW 54.04.045(3)(a) and (3)(b) to determine the maximum allowable pole rate. RCW 54.04.045(3). Subsection (3)(a), the portion relevant to this Petition, states as follows:

(a) One component of the rate shall consist of the additional costs of procuring and maintaining pole attachments, but may not exceed the actual capital and operating expenses of the locally regulated utility attributable to that portion of the pole, duct, or conduit used for the pole attachment, including a share of the required support and clearance space, in proportion to the space used for the pole attachment, as compared to all other uses made of the subject facilities and uses that remain available to the owner or owners of the subject facilities[.]

The parties have long disputed whether the District's pole attachment rate is compliant with the statute. Specifically, CenturyLink disputes the District's interpretation of the statutory formula as well as the District's data used to calculate the rate charged to CenturyLink (referred to by the parties below and in this brief as "inputs" for the statutorily prescribed formula).

## B. Prior Litigation: *PUD I*

This is the second time that this matter came before the Court of Appeals. *See Pub. Util. Dist. No. 2 of Pac. Cty. v. Comcast of Wash. IV, Inc.*, 184 Wn. App. 24, 336 P.3d 65 (2014) (hereinafter *PUD I*). In deciding the first appeal, the Court of Appeals held that none of the parties correctly interpreted the statutory formula and remanded the matter for the parties to determine the formula as it is set forth by the words of the "unique" statute. *PUD I*, 184 Wn. App. at 64.

## C. Trial Court Ruling and Court of Appeals' Opinion

After the trial court held a five-day remand bench trial, it ruled in favor of the District, accepting its interpretation of the statutory formula and adopting the District's selection of inputs when calculating the pole attachment rate. CenturyLink timely appealed.

On April 8, 2019, the Court of Appeals affirmed in part and reversed in part the trial court. First, it affirmed the trial court's ruling that the District did not abuse its discretion while selecting the inputs used when calculating the maximum permissible pole attachment rate pursuant to RCW 54.04.045(3). Second, it reversed the trial court's incorrect interpretation of RCW 54.04.045(3)(a) (but held the error was harmless). Third, it affirmed the judgment in favor of the District. CenturyLink now seeks review by the Supreme Court.

#### V. ARGUMENT IN FAVOR OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals erred by improperly rubber stamping the District's inputs in the name of deference, raising grave issues as to the fundamental meaning of review by the courts for "arbitrary and capricious" action by any administrative agency. The court's lack of meaningful review of municipal action is contrary to numerous Washington Supreme Court and Court of Appeals opinions. Thus, this case readily satisfies the standards of RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4) because it raises two different issues of substantial public interest.

First, the "arbitrary and capricious" standard of review is not just applicable to the actions of municipal utilities such as public utility districts; rather, it is a key component of the review exercised by Washington courts over the actions of all administrative agencies. RCW 34.05.570(2)(c), (3)(i), (4)(c)(iii). Thus, the Court of Appeals' radical decision, upholding the District's actions contrary to fact and contrary to legislative direction, threatens to upend generally applicable administrative law.

Second, this case has always been the "test case" for the interpretation and application of RCW 54.04.045's formula to calculate fees for all parties attaching to poles owned by all public utility districts

throughout the state. Twenty-eight public utility districts currently operate in Washington, all but four of which conduct operations utilizing utility poles. Thus, properly interpreting RCW 54.04.045, and the inputs that may be used in doing so, is critically important to a substantial portion of the state. For these reasons, the Petition should be granted.

# A. Meaningful Judicial Review of Discretionary Action by Municipalities Is Required.

The Court of Appeals erred in refusing to follow precedent from this Court and other Court of Appeals' opinions, which unambiguously establish that although courts give deference to actions taken by municipalities, this deference is not limitless.

Under Washington law, where municipal actions "come within the purpose and object of the enabling statute and no express limitations apply" then "the choice of means used in operating the utility [is left] to the discretion of municipal authorities." *City of Tacoma v. Taxpayers of City of Tacoma*, 108 Wn.2d 679, 695, 743 P.2d 793 (1987). "Of course, . . . municipal utility authority has limits." *Id.* Courts review municipal utility choices to determine whether the particular action was "arbitrary or capricious, or unreasonable." *Id.* (citation omitted); *see also PUD I*, 184

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See WPUDA, Frequently Asked Questions, https://www.wpuda.org/faqs (last visited May 6, 2019) ("How many PUDs are there in Washington state?").

Wn. App. at 45. "Arbitrary and capricious" refers to "willful and unreasoning action, taken without regard to or consideration of the facts and circumstances surrounding the action." *Lane v. Port of Seattle*, 178 Wn. App. 110, 126, 316 P.3d 1070 (2013) (quoting *Abbenhaus v. City of Yakima*, 89 Wn.2d 855, 858-59, 576 P.2d 888 (1978)).

The Court of Appeals, in prior published opinions, properly reviewed administrative agency actions to determine whether the particular action was arbitrary and capricious, or unreasonable. The court's opinion in Hasit LLC v. City of Edgewood (Local Improvement *Dist.* #1) is instructive on this point. 179 Wn. App. 917, 320 P.3d 163 (2014). In *Hasit*, the Court of Appeals examined whether the city council's denial of property owners' protests against local improvement district assessment was arbitrary and capricious, where the denial was based on owners' failure to present expert testimony. 179 Wn. App. at 944-45. The court appreciated "the time, pressure, and financial constraints under which the Council acted," and believed "that the City attempted in good faith to follow the law." Id. at 945. Because the city told the owners that they were not allowed to present that kind of evidence, the action was "unquestionably" arbitrary and capricious. *Id.*; see also Children's Hosp. & Med. Ctr. v. Wash. State Dep't of Health, 95 Wn. App. 858, 873-74, 975 P.2d 567 (1999) (Department's determination that hospital could perform pediatric open heart surgery without statutorily required review was arbitrary and capricious because it was "based on an erroneous interpretation of the statutes and its own regulations as applied to the facts . . . [and] undisputed medical evidence.").

This Court also regularly exercises discretion over applicable administrative agency actions under the "arbitrary and capricious" standard. *See, e.g., Rios v. Wash. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 145 Wn.2d 483, 508, 39 P.3d 961 (2002) (Department action held arbitrary and capricious when the agency denied agricultural pesticide handlers' request that it exercise its authority to promulgate rule implementing pesticide monitoring, because the Department had already invested its resources in studying those pesticides and its own technical experts had written a report deeming a monitoring program both necessary and doable).

It is clear from these cases that under Washington law, a court must review municipal actions to determine whether the particular action was arbitrary and capricious, or unreasonable, no matter that the standard of review is deferential and no matter that the municipality may be trying to achieve a legitimate end. Unfortunately, in the instant case, the Court of Appeals ignored clear precedent and applied an unduly deferential

review of the challenged District actions while dispatching with litigants that it appeared to have grown tired of.<sup>2</sup>

### 1. Safety Space

The court erred when it affirmed the District's classification of "safety space" on a utility pole as "unusable space," allowing the District to allocate a share of the cost associated with the space to pole attachers like CenturyLink. The court so ruled seemingly without any analysis and in the face of contrary, admitted fact as well as an unchallenged finding of fact from the superior court.

The court first stated that it had previously dictated that the District has discretion to determine "that which constitutes unusable<sup>[3]</sup> space." App. 23-24 (citing *PUD I*, 184 Wn. App. at 73-74). It then jumped to the conclusion that "because, as the District has defined unusable space, something we decided in *PUD I* that the District has the discretion to do, the safety space is unusable." App. 24. Although awkwardly worded, the court's meaning was clear: *whatever* definition of unusable space that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In a footnote, the court described CenturyLink's argument regarding the safety space as "rather churlish protestations." App. 25 n.27. Churlish is defined as "vulgar," "rude" "ill-bred" and "lacking refinement or higher feeling." *Churlish, Webster's Third New International Dictionary* (2002). It is unfair to describe an effort to hold the District to "the balance struck" in RCW 54.04.045 as "churlish." *Cf.* App. 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The term "unusable" is deployed to reflect the nature of the inquiry for purposes of setting pole attachment rates. The issue is not whether the safety space is or is not used in any specific setting, or even how often it is used; the question is whether it is capable of being used for any kind of attachments, *at all. Cf.* App. 10 n.11.

District comes up with, that definition will be a proper exercise of the District's discretion. Such analysis, if the court stopped there, would be troubling enough – the court was openly acknowledging that it had not performed *any* judicial review of the District's definition, although it had already stated that such action was subject to "arbitrary and capricious" review.

But even more troubling, the court held this while agreeing that the record shows it is *undisputed that* the District indeed uses the safety space. *See*, *e.g.*, App. 23.<sup>4</sup> The court claimed there was some support in the record for the District's classification, namely that "the District has established a policy of not using the safety space and taken steps to comply with that policy." App. 24–25. This analysis is plainly wrong, on two levels.

First, it mischaracterizes at best, or at worst flatly ignores, unchallenged findings from the superior court (unchallenged because the supporting evidence was undisputed): the District's policy is to not use the safety space "unless there are special needs requiring it, such as customer timing needs or clearance issues." App. 45 (Supplemental Finding of Fact 93). Simply put, a finding of fact that something is used whenever there

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "[O]ccasional use of the safety space by the District does not make it arbitrary and capricious" to consider the space to be unusable. App. 23.

are "special needs requiring it" (including "special needs" as routine as "customer timing needs") can mean only one thing: the space at issue is *usable*.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals was wrong because it is a false equivalency to say that something is unusable merely because the District is in the process of trying to stop using it. In essence, the Court of Appeals was in possession of facts that showed the District was using a space that it defined as unusable, and yet the court did not hold that such action was arbitrary and capricious – this is certainly error. *See Lane*, 178 Wn. App. at 126 ("Arbitrary and capricious" refers to "willful and unreasoning action, taken *without regard to or consideration of the facts and circumstances* surrounding the action." (citation omitted; emphasis added)).

## 2. Electricity Taxes

The court also improperly permitted the District to include taxes on its electrical operations as an expense component of its pole attachment rate. App. 29. The court uncritically accepted the District's contention that requiring attachers to share the District's electricity taxes was not arbitrary and capricious because attachers would have nowhere to attach their equipment without the District's utility pole system. *Id*.

This reasoning flies in the face of the applicable statute because it is undisputed that the District's electricity taxes are not impacted in any way by pole attachments. The District does not pay any infrastructure taxes or property taxes; rather, the District admits that the only material taxes it pays are the public utility tax established by RCW 82.16.010 and the privilege tax required by RCW 54.28.020. Both are dependent solely on the sale of electric service -e.g., RCW 54.28.020(1); RCW 82.16.010(4) – as the District admits. App. 51-52 (RP 497–98). Thus, if pole attachers had attachments on every District pole, or on no District poles at all – again, as the District admits – the District's taxes would not change in any way. Id. The statute is explicit: in paying pole attachment rates, CenturyLink may only be required to bear costs "attributable to" pole attachments. RCW 54.04.045(3)(a), (b). Because the electricity taxes are not "attributable to" pole attachments, the District cannot charge a share of the taxes to CenturyLink without exceeding its statutory authority. See City of Tacoma, 108 Wn.2d at 695 (a municipal utility exceeds its authority when it acts contrary to express statutory limitations).

Moreover, the court's acceptance of the District's argument that any cost is fair game because CenturyLink would have nowhere to attach without the District's poles is separately troubling. Suggesting that

attaching entities objecting to rates that do not comply with the statute should just go build their own poles is contrary to the legislature's specific intent in enacting RCW 54.04.045: "It is the policy of the state to encourage the joint use of utility poles[.]" 2008 Laws ch. 197, § 1. A court should not defer to arguments that reject the very predicate for the statute in interpreting "the balance struck" in RCW 54.04.045. *Cf.* App. 37. Because the District's input of electricity taxes is contrary to the express limitations of the statute, the Court of Appeals erred in allowing the District to use this input when calculating CenturyLink's pole attachment rate.

## 3. Return on Equity

The Court of Appeals also improperly allowed the District to include a return on equity as an actual expense included in the pole attachment rate charged to CenturyLink. The court allowed the District to input a return on equity because it deemed the residents of the district as "functionally equivalent to investors." App. 26.

By so holding, the Court of Appeals again rubber stamped the District's input in direct contradiction of the statute. The court did not address, at all, the fact that RCW 54.04.045(3)(a) was based on

RCW 80.54.040,<sup>5</sup> and the only substantive change between the two statutes was to expressly *exclude* from RCW 54.04.045 the allowance RCW 80.54.040 makes for "just compensation."

"Just compensation" is the term used by the courts to recognize that investors in privately owned regulated utilities are constitutionally entitled to a fair return on their investment. See Bluefield Waterworks & Improvement Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va., 262 U.S. 679, 692, 43 S. Ct. 675, 67 L. Ed. 1176 (1923) ("What annual rate will constitute just compensation depe[n]ds upon many circumstances . . . . A public utility is entitled to such rates as will permit it to earn a return on the value of the property which it employs for the convenience of the public equal to that generally being made at the same time and in the same general part of the country[.]" (emphasis added)). The Supreme Court of Washington has affirmed this analysis of "just compensation." See State ex rel. Pac. Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Dep't of Pub. Serv., 19 Wn.2d 200, 266, 142 P.2d 498

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "A just and reasonable rate shall assure the utility the recovery of not less than all the additional costs of procuring and maintaining pole attachments, nor more than the actual capital and operating expenses, *including just compensation*, of the utility attributable to that portion of the pole, duct, or conduit used for the pole attachment, including a share of the required support and clearance space, in proportion to the space used for the pole attachment, as compared to all other uses made of the subject facilities, and uses which remain available to the owner or owners of the subject facilities." RCW 80.54.040 (emphasis added).

(1943); People's Org. for Wash. Energy Res. v. Wash. Utils. & Transp. Comm'n, 104 Wn.2d 798, 812-13, 711 P.2d 319 (1985).

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