FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/6/2019 9:58 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97169-2

#### SUPREME COURT

#### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

[Court of Appeals No. 77310-1-I]

# PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 2 OF PACIFIC COUNTY, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent,

V.

COMCAST CABLE COMMUNICATIONS MANAGEMENT, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
CENTURYTEL OF WASHINGTON, INC., a Washington corporation; and FALCON COMMUNITY VENTURES, I, L.P., a California limited partnership, d/b/a CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS,

Petitioner (CenturyTel only).

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP

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

The arbitrary and capricious standard of judicial review is not a catch all standard intended to allow courts to interfere with agency decision making in order to forestall any and all mistakes or perceived errors made by public officials. Rather, it permits courts to intervene to stop only 'willful and unreasoning action taken without regard to or consideration of the facts and circumstances surrounding the action' Abbenhaus, 89 Wn.2d at 858. For other discretionary actions that do not constitute arbitrary and capricious conduct, the remedy for those disapproving of choices made is at the ballot box.

Slip. op. at 28 n.33 (438 P.3d at 1228 n.33) (citing *Abbenhaus v. City of Yakima*, 89 Wn.2d 855, 858, 576 P.2d 888 (1978)). There is no conflict

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The cases on which CTL relies show how extreme public agency action must be to constitute willful and unreasoning action taken without regard to facts and circumstances—*i.e.*, arbitrary and capricious conduct. *Hasit LLC v. City of Edgewood (Local Impr. Dist. No. 1)*, 179 Wn. App. 917, 320 P.3d 163 (2014), involved a city issuing a notice informing plaintiffs they could not present expert testimony, and then denying their protest on the very basis that they had not presented such testimony. *Id.* at 945. *Children's Hosp. v. State Dept. of Health*, 95 Wn. App. 858, 975 P.2d 567 (1999), involved performing pediatric open heart surgery without first undergoing a statutorily required review. *Id.* at 873-74. And this Court denied review. 139 Wn.2d 1021, 994 P.2d 847 (2000). *Rios v. Dept. of Labor & Indus.*, 145 Wn.2d 483, 39 P.3d 961 (2002), involved the failure to promulgate pesticide regulations when the agency's own technical experts had concluded a monitoring program was necessary and doable. This Court recognized that agencies usually have discretion in their actions, but found this to be an

between the Court of Appeals decision and decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals.

The Opinion is consistent with not only decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, but also with the legislative intent in RCW 54.04.045. As the Court of Appeals noted in both of its opinions, the policy of the State in enacting the 2008 amendments to RCW 54.04.045 included "to recognize the value of the infrastructure of locally regulated utilities . . . as well as ensure that locally regulated utility customers do not subsidize licensees. Slip op. at 7, 14-15 26-28 (438 P.3d at 1218, 1221-22, 1227-28) (citing LAWS OF 2008, Ch. 197, §1). The legislative intent also included establishing "a consistent cost-based formula for calculating pole attachment rates, which will ensure greater predictability and consistency in pole attachment rates statewide . . . ." Slip op. at 7 (438 P.3d at 1218).

The Opinion establishes precisely this framework: a mathematical depiction of the statutory formula and a final appellate decision as to how relevant inputs and data would be treated. As the Court of Appeals noted:

The legislature's decision to choose its own words to establish a rate formula (and thereby foreclose foreign authorities from in any way acting in a manner that would alter the balance struck by the legislature) protects public utility districts from any limitations to their discretion not specifically enumerated in the 2008 amendment. Similarly,

<sup>&</sup>quot;extraordinary" case. *Id.* at 507-08. These extreme cases are far different from the District's decisions on pole attachment rate inputs involved here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> As the Court of Appeals observed, the second policy originates from the prohibition in the Washington Constitution against gifts of public funds or property to private parties. CONST. art. VII, § 7. Slip op. at 15 n.21.

it protects attachers from any rate changes not authorized by the legislature.

Slip op. at 37 (438 P.3d at 1232). CenturyLink's position turns this balance on its head, contrary to the legislature's intent in the 2008 statutory amendments, established case law, and the public interest. CenturyLink's arguments are better directed to the legislature than to this Court.

In the face of the disabling obstacles to this Court's acceptance of review, CenturyLink resorts to arguments well beyond the reach of RAP 13.4—Court of Appeals bias and lack of meaningful review of CTL's arguments. After commenting on several cases that applied accepted arbitrary and capricious standard principles, as the Opinion also did, CenturyLink argues that the Court of Appeals did not review the District's actions at all, stating that what that court was doing in applying the arbitrary and capricious standard was just "rubber stamping" the District's actions (Petition for Review at 2, 14) and "dispatching with litigants that it appeared to have grown tired of." Petition for Review at 10. CTL objects to some of the Opinion's terminology as evidencing the Court of Appeals' alleged tiredness, but CTL's same argument about the safety space had previously been rejected by the Court of Appeals in its first opinion. Slip op. at 23-25 (438 P.3d at 1226).

CTL's criticism is, at best, unseemly, if not verging on disrespectful. Furthermore, if the Court of Appeals was, in fact, growing tired of some of CenturyLink's arguments, CenturyLink has only itself to

blame.<sup>11</sup> In this lawsuit, CenturyLink seems to have repeatedly viewed judicial rejection of its positions through the distorted lens of the trial court or the Court of Appeals supposedly becoming tired or exasperated by CTL's actions. *See*, *e.g.*, CenturyLink's Reply to the District's Cross-Petition for Review on the issue of the missed appeal deadline in Supreme Court No. 91386-2 at 4 and Appendix p.31 at ¶5 (CP 2361) (paralegal declaration that she had the impression the Pacific County Court Administrator was getting exasperated by her calls regarding when judgment would be entered).

CenturyLink's argument that the Court of Appeals was using longestablished principles of municipal utility discretion "as a means to allow
it to abstain from any meaningful review" (Petition for Review at 19) is
equally unavailing. The Court of Appeals analyzed in detail the District's
inputs and data used in its calculation of the maximum statutory rate. *See*Slip op. at 13-16, 21-31 (438 P.3d at 1221-22, 1225-29). The Opinion's
comprehensive treatment of the issues debunks CTL's argument that the
Court of Appeals' decision "eviscerates almost any meaningful review of
the discretionary actions of municipal corporations such as the District"
and "equate[s] to unquestioning adoption of a utility's position." Petition
for Review at 1, 19. CenturyLink has had more than ample opportunity to
argue its positions in this lawsuit and have them carefully considered by
multiple courts at multiple judicial levels. CTL's resort to arguments

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See, e.g., the Court of Appeals' conclusion that CenturyLink's reading of the District's proposed pole attachment agreement on the first appeal was "willfully blind" as to ambiguity CTL argued was present. 184 Wn. App. at 51 n.21.

smacking of appellate court bias and failure of the Court of Appeals to give meaningful consideration to CTL's arguments reveals the serious problems CTL faces on the merits of its Petition.

In fact, what has occurred in this lawsuit is precisely what CTL argued for the last time it was before this Court. CTL and the other defendants argued in their March 27, 2015 Petitions for Review (Supreme Court No. 91386-2) that the Court of Appeals in its first decision abdicated its responsibility to interpret RCW 54.04.045 to provide guidance on implementing it in the future, and, instead, remanded the decision to the trial court. But providing that guidance is precisely what then occurred—a remand, followed by a second appeal in which the Court of Appeals did establish the standard for the future, but CenturyLink does not agree with it. That is not the basis upon which Supreme Court review should be granted.

2. The Court of Appeals' holdings on the specific rate inputs challenged do not meet the requirements for discretionary review.

The Opinion's holdings adverse to CenturyLink on the specific rate calculation inputs CTL challenges—including the safety space as part of clearance space and including utility taxes and a return on investment—do not provide a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

The Court of Appeals reviewed the issue of including the safety space as part of the clearance space on the utility pole in detail. Slip op. at 23-25 (438 P.3d at 1226). The Court of Appeals referred back to its decision on this very point in its first opinion, as well as recounting

relevant portions of the record. *Id.* The Opinion based its holding on this issue on the lack of definition of support and clearance space in RCW 54.04.045, longstanding case law on municipal utility discretion, and the record in this lawsuit. Indeed, if this Court were to accept review of this issue and reversed the decision on this point, it would be contrary to the legislature's expressed intent in RCW 54.04.045 because each PUD might be factually different as to what and whose equipment is in the safety space, so no "consistent cost-based formula" could be implemented. The conclusion that the District did not abuse its discretion in including the safety space in its calculation of clearance space was not error and should not be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b).

The Court of Appeals also analyzed in detail the District's including a return on investment in its rate calculations and concluded that was within the District's discretion. Slip op. at 26-29 (438 P.3d at 1227-28). In response to CTL's argument that RCW 54.04.045 does not explicitly permit the District to include just compensation as a component of its rate, 12 the Court of Appeals emphasized again the legislative intent in RCW 54.04.045 to "recognize the value of the infrastructure of locally regulated utilities" and to "ensure that locally regulated utility customers do not subsidize licensees." Slip op. at 26 (438 P.3d at 1227). The Court of Appeals also noted that, because the District's customers fund construction and maintenance of the District's utility poles, they are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CenturyLink based this argument on a statute applicable to private utilities, not consumer-owned utilities like the District.

functionally equivalent to investors and are entitled to a return on their investment by means of a charge to third-party attachers making use of publicly-financed poles for private gain. Slip op. at 26-27 (438 P.3d at 1227).

The Court of Appeals also addressed a myriad of other arguments CTL raised on return on investment and rejected each of them in turn, based on the record, specific statutory provisions, witness credibility determinations by the trial court, and District discretion guided by the legislature's intent to recognize the value of PUD infrastructure and ensure that PUD ratepayers do not subsidize third-party attachers. Slip op. at 26-29 (including footnotes 29-34) (438 P.3d at 1227-28). There was no error in affirming the trial court on including a return on investment, and there is no basis in RAP 13.4(b) for this Court to review the Opinion in this regard.

The Court of Appeals also addressed CenturyLink's argument that taxes the District pays that are actual expenses of the District should not be included in its calculations. Slip op. at 29 (438 P.3d at 1228-29). CTL argues that RCW 54.04.045 requires that costs be "attributable to pole attachments." That is not, however, consistent with the wording of the statute. Both RCW 54.04.045(3)(a) and (3)(b) refer to "the actual capital and operating expenses of the local regulated utility attributable to that portion of the pole ... used for the pole attachment ...." Thus, as the Court of Appeals recognized in both of its opinions, actual capital and

operating expenses of the PUD are appropriate to include in calculating the maximum permissible rate. Slip op. at 29 (438 P.3d at 1228-29). The actual expenses are then reduced by allocating them to third-party attachers according to the portion of the pole used for pole attachments – *i.e.*, the space factor.

The Court of Appeals also noted that tax expense is a component of the District's utility pole system, and CTL and other attachers would have nowhere to attach their equipment without that system, so it is appropriate to require them to pay a share. Slip op. at 29 (438 P.3d at 1228-29). The Opinion also observed that including taxes in the District's calculations is consistent with the legislature's stated intent to value the District's infrastructure, and held that including tax expenses as a component of the pole attachment rate was not arbitrary and capricious. *Id.*.

If this Court were to follow CenturyLink's suggestions on the input issues on which CTL seeks review—including the safety space, return on investment, and utility taxes—the result would essentially be to adopt the FCC Cable formula for RCW 54.04.045(3)(a), when the legislature intended that section to be a unique formula, with FCC Cable only as an option if a PUD chooses to use it (RCW 54.04.045(4)), which the District did not do. This Court should not grant review based on arguments that are odds with the statutory language, the legislature's expressed intent, and longstanding case law on municipal utility discretion.

### 3. The argument that the error was not harmless should not be reviewed.

CTL argues that the error was not harmless. This, however, is based on CTL's argument that the Court of Appeals erred in including the safety space, return on investment, and taxes.<sup>13</sup> As discussed above, this Court should not grant review on those issues. That being the case, the Court of Appeals was correct that any error in interpreting the statutory formula was harmless. This Court should not review that decision.

### B. <u>CenturyLink's Plea That RCW 4.84.330 Applies To A Pre-</u>1977 Contract Should Not Be Reviewed.

CenturyLink argues once again that, if it prevails, it is entitled to recover its attorneys' fees and costs under a contract that would not be covered by the reciprocal fee provisions of RCW 4.84.330 because it was executed years before 1977. The express language of the statute, which applies only to "a contract or lease entered into after September 21, 1977," excludes CTL's request. Moreover, this Court need not address this issue at all, since it should not accept review of CenturyLink's Petition for Review in any event, as discussed above. Then, CenturyLink will not be the prevailing party and would not be entitled to attorneys' fees even if the contract under which it claims them post-dated the relevant statutory date.

CenturyLink has made this argument multiple times, and it has been rejected each time. The Court of Appeals first rejected this argument in its October 13, 2014 opinion. 184 Wn. App. at 89. CenturyLink then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CenturyLink does not challenge the Court of Appeals' actual calculations of maximum statutory rates in excess of the District's \$19.70 rate for each of the years at issue in the remand trial. Slip op. at 38-40 (438 P.3d at 1233-34).

moved for reconsideration. *See* Appellant CenturyTel of Washington, Inc.'s Motion for Reconsideration at 3-15 (November 3, 2014). The Court of Appeals rejected that argument on February 10, 2015. Order Granting Motion for Reconsideration in Part, Amending Opinion, and Denying Further Relief. 184 Wn. App. at 89-91. CenturyLink then petitioned this Court for review on this very issue. CenturyLink's Petition for Review, Issue 3 (§ V-C at 19-20) (March 27, 2015). This Court denied review. 183 Wn.2d 1015, 353 P.3d 641 (August 5, 2015). 14

CenturyLink has had more than ample opportunity to litigate, and re-litigate, this issue. There is no showing that this issue meets the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). As the Court of Appeals concluded in its first opinion, CenturyLink's argument on *Herzog Aluminum, Inc. v. General American Window Corp.*, 39 Wn. App. 188, 692 P.2d 867 (1984), is based on an "overly expansive reading of *Herzog Aluminum*" and *Wallace v. Kuehner*, 111 Wn. App. 809, 46 P.3d 823 (2002), rejected a similar argument, declining to apply *Herzog Aluminum* where, as here, a party seeking attorneys' fees never intended to form a contract. 184 Wn. App. at 89-90. There is no substantial public interest requiring this Court's determination on this issue, and no conflict with any decision of

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